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We partner with industry leaders to create opportunities 
for successful growth of the Atlantic credit union system 
and the communities we serve.
About League Savings and Mortgage Company
League Savings and Mortgage Company is an OSFI federally regulated financial institution 
incorporated under the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada). The company has been a 
trusted credit union partner providing a broad range of products and services to help support 
credit union growth and their members achieve financial success since 1966. 

League Savings has developed strategic partnerships with organizations like Concentra Bank, 
MCAP, People’s Trust, National Bank and, as a participant, in the CANNEX Nominee Channel. 
These partnerships provide opportunities to expand into new and higher yielding markets so we 
can diversify our balance sheet and improve profitability, which in turn, will generate improved 
returns for our shareholders. 

In addition, League Savings is:
• a member of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation
• approved under Sagen and CMHC mortgage insurers
• approved under CMHC’s securitization program
• able to operate coast to coast to coast due to its Federal Charter



In 2021, League Savings and Mortgage 
remained focused on its priorities to grow 
our business and create more value for 
credit unions and their members.

CHAIR ’S  MESSAGE

T
he past year brought disruption and 
uncertainty as we continued to live and 
work during the global pandemic. We did 
not see a return to our pre-pandemic work 
model, and I’m proud of how effectively and 
efficiently we work in a virtual environment. 
I am pleased to report that, despite these 

challenges, League Savings and Mortgage (LSM) remained 
focused on its priorities to grow our business and create 
more value for credit unions and their members.

In 2021 LSM achieved the best financial performance 
in our history. With total assets (on and off-balance sheet) 
approaching $4 billion and an operating efficiency ratio 
of 35 per cent, we continue to strengthen our financial 
performance and diversify our offerings to ensure we can 
support credit unions in areas that will improve their 
competitiveness to become the financial institution of 
choice for members and potential members. Our strong 
partnerships with like-minded organizations nationally 
allow us to provide more opportunities for credit unions to 
increase their profitability. 

The board’s strategic planning session was held 
in-person in the fall. The chair of the credit union CEO 
Executive Committee was invited to join us to share their 
insight and offer feedback relating to initiatives impacting 
the Atlantic credit union system. We recognize the value of 
credit union representation at these meetings in identifying 
areas of focus that are important to credit unions and their 
members. LSM is committed to working with Atlantic 
Central and League Data to ensure we are aligned in our 
efforts to support the implementation, goals, and objectives 
of the Atlantic Credit Union System Strategy (ACUSS). The 
boards of the three organizations met to review the strategy 
together and the board is confident that LSM can, and will, 
play an important role as we work together as an Atlantic 
system to execute on the regional strategy in the years 
ahead. This sets the stage for our focus for the next three 
years and the board is in full support of the organization’s 
strategic direction, putting us in a strong position for future 
growth and success. 

In 2021, LSM received B Corp™ certification, joining 
a global movement of people using business as a force for 
good™. This achievement demonstrates our commitment 
to transparency and accountability in measuring the 
social and environmental impact of our business to credit 
unions and the communities we serve. 

The board understands the critical role governance plays 
in ensuring the organization’s operations align with the 
interests of all its stakeholders, as well as the role it plays in 
ethical decision-making and financial viability. Our by-laws 
were changed in 2020 to allow us to add a new director 
with specific skills to respond to the evolving complexity 
of our business model. We were pleased to welcome Corina 
Farbacher, Executive Vice President, Chief Governance 
and Risk Officer at Affinity Credit Union in Saskatchewan. 
Corina has significant expertise in corporate governance, 
risk management, legal, and regulatory compliance. The 
board also recognizes the important role diversity plays 
in addressing complex issues and making well-informed 
decisions. In 2021 we continued to work toward our goal of 
achieving more diverse and inclusive board representation. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I want to thank 
the management and staff of LSM for their leadership 
and vision – your dedication to the future success of the 
organization and the Atlantic credit union system has 
never wavered. I also want to recognize our president and 
CEO, Mike Leonard, who last fall announced his plans 
to retire in the spring of 2022 after 34 years serving the 
credit union system, nine of those in his current role. 
Mike is a respected leader and advocate of the credit union 
movement who led LSM through significant change and 
growth. We will miss his leadership and wish him all the 
best as he begins his next journey. We are on a path of 
tremendous change in the Atlantic credit union system, 
and I am confident the new president and CEO will help 
lead LSM to continued success. 

Raymond Surette, Chair
League Savings and Mortgage Company 
Board of Directors
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CEO’S  MESSAGE

League Savings also continues to explore different 
markets in pursuit of new and higher yielding assets. Our 
partnership with Concentra Bank is the gateway to more 
diverse national markets and we continue to explore asset 
portfolios that will diversify our balance sheet and grow 
our financial margins. While the global pandemic has 
impacted these markets, we remain poised to execute on 
new opportunities as they become available.

I have stated often over the last few years that while 
our previous business model was fueled by mortgage 
and deposit referrals, our new model is fueled by capital. 
In 2021 League Savings executed our first capital raise, 
attracting $12 million from Atlantic credit unions. This 
was a significant effort and achievement, and I want to 
thank all of you who invested in us. Your investment will 
allow League Savings to continue to grow and explore new 
opportunities that I am confident will benefit you as well. 

While we have not always communicated it well, 
though Atlantic Central is the administrator of the regional 
Loan Syndication Program, League Savings is the originator 
of most of the business opportunities. The program has 
grown significantly over the past 10 years, from $18 million 
in 2013 to $400 million at the end of 2021. The program 
generates significant interest income for credit unions, and 
I am pleased to advise that in 2021 we generated more than 
$15 million for our syndication partners. 

T
he year 2021 was an excellent year for 
League Savings as we continue our journey 
of growth and profitability. The company 
recorded the best financial results in our 
history, with net operating income in 
excess of $10M. This is the result of two 
important fundamental principles that drive 

our company: first, we remain committed and focused 
on the Atlantic credit union system and second, we are 
firmly focused on growing the company by exploring new 
opportunities on a national level. 

During its first 45 years, League Savings maintained 
a static business model. We worked with Atlantic credit 
unions to process mortgage and deposit referrals from 
credit union members. While the model worked and served 
the system well, over time it became clear that credit 
unions were building their own mortgage and deposit 
capabilities, and our traditional business model became 
less relevant. Today we continue to offer these important 
services, and many credit unions continue to use League 
Savings to retain member relationships with mortgage 
and deposit transactions that they prefer not to put on 
their own balance sheets. In every instance where we help 
keep a credit union member, we continue to demonstrate 
the value of those business lines. However, they are not 
sufficient to sustain the company and we needed to find 
new opportunities to grow the company, and we have. 

In 2021 we grew our securitization business, to the 
point where League Savings has more than $3 billion 
in off-balance sheet assets. This has become a key 
component of our new national vision for the company 
and has created a significant increase in our profitability. 

…first, we remain committed and focused on the 
Atlantic credit union system and second, we are firmly 
focused on growing the company by exploring new 
opportunities on a national level.
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When I look at the current lending activity in the 
regional system, and the significant concentration of low 
yielding residential mortgages on our collective balance 
sheets, we are all looking for new credit opportunities. 
That is what the League Savings strategy is designed to do, 
and I am confident the company is positioned to generate 
significant value for credit unions for years to come.

As you may know, I recently announced that I will be 
retiring in May 2022, so this will be my last CEO report to 
you, our credit union partners. I started working at League 
Savings in 1988, and it has been an incredible 34-year 
journey. When I reflect back on this time, what I remember 
most is the people. All of you are the reason why I chose to 
build a career here and why it has been such a great ride. I 
want to thank my team, who do all the real work to make 
us so successful, and our board of directors, for their never-
ending support and encouragement. Last but certainly not 
least, I want to thank our credit union partners. The respect 
and admiration I have for all of you and the work you do 
in your communities is boundless. I will miss working side 
by side with you, but I will continue to watch from the 
sidelines as you continue to build the credit union system, 
and our communities in Atlantic Canada.

Michael Leonard
President and CEO

I want to thank my team, who 
do all the real work to make us 
so successful, and our board of 
directors, for their never-ending 
support and encouragement. 
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BUSINESS  MODEL

LSM’s focus on innovation and transformation over the last couple of years has played a 
major role in the results highlighted in this year’s report. In combination with the strong 
partnerships we’ve forged over these years, this is the business model that has helped create 
those results, and the model that will pave the way for future growth.

FOUR  D IMENS IONS  OF  VALUE 
TO  ATLANT IC  CRED IT  UN IONS

Service  
to Members

Credit Union 
Liquidity

Financial 
Returns

Long-Term 
Viability  
for LSM

• Retain members with higher cost 
transactions/don’t fit your balance sheet.

• Access to enhanced advice  
and expertise.

• Platform for growth built for  
Atlantic Credit unions.

• LSM continues to be the 
referral mechanism for CU’s 
deposits and mortgages, to 
help optimize CU liquidity.

• Enhanced reporting 
and analytics.

• LSM available to support credit 
unions and position them to 

meet their current and emerging 
needs.

• A larger, stronger seat at the national 
table.

•  Higher and sustainable dividends  
to shareholders.

•  Access to diversified, higher yielding 
financial products.
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SNAPSHOT

$772.6M

$110M

35%$417.8M

$400M

$74.2M

$15M

$9.6M

$6.2M

ASSETS

NEW BUS INESS  TOTAL ING

EFF IC I ENCY  RAT IO

(44% IN  2020)($715 .3M IN  2020) ($372 .2M IN  2020) ($59 .4M IN  2020)

DEPOS ITS
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BALANCE  SHEET

Continued growth, tremendous outcomes.

SYNDICAT ION PORTFOL IO

The benefits of building strong partnership have never been more evident.

S ECUR IT IZAT ION PROGRAM

2020 2021

Mulit-residential insured 
securitization

$767M $633M
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generated returns to LSM
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SNAPSHOT

NEW BUS INESS

$174M

$34M $633M

$200M

$89M

$85M

CLOSED  ON NEW 

BUS INESS  IN  THE 

AMOUNT OF

FUNDED PURCHASED

IN  AFFORDABLE 

HOUS ING 

TRANSACT IONS 

($22M IN  2020)

IN  CMB POOLS 

RESULT ING  IN  GAINS 

OF  $3 .7M TO  LSM

COMMERCIAL 

PORTFOL IO  BROKE 

THE

ADVANCES

ADVANCES

COMMERCIAL 

($77M IN  2020)

RES IDENT IAL 

($77 .4M IN  20202)

BARR IER  FOR  THE 

F IRST  T IME  EVER
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SNAPSHOT

OTHER  BUS INESS

$22.3M

1,751
562

32%

8.1/108.1/10

OVER

INVESTED  AT 

DECEMBER  31 ,  2021

COMMERCIAL  AND 

RETAIN  CREDIT 

APPL ICAT IONS 

(1 ,322  IN  2020)

ANNUAL  CREDIT 

REV IEWS  

(482  IN  2020)

INCREASE  IN  NEW 

CREDIT  APPL ICAT IONS 

OVER  2020

(8 .1  IN  2020) (8 .2  IN  2020)

RELAT IONSHIP 

SAT ISFACT ION

SERVICE 

PERFORMANCE

DEL INQUENCY

The Commercial and Syndication portfolios were very well-
managed; there were no delinquent accounts at year end.

BETTER  EARTH  PORTFOL IO

CUSTOMER  SAT I SFACT ION SURVEY

One way League Savings measures its business and 
relationship performance with customers (credit unions and 
mortgage brokers) is through surveys.

EASY  TO  DO BUS INESS  W ITH

• League Savings became a bill payer in MemberDirect and 
the major banks enabling the ease and speed of online 
payments.

• In 2021, our strategic partner, Concentra became League 
Savings’ trustee for registered plan products resulting in 
reduced costs and increased efficiency. 

• Sending funds internally and externally became much easier 
in 2021 with the implementation of e-transfers. 
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Paul Paruch 
VP Digital & Payments

Brenda Roberts-Harmon
VP Corporate Services  
& Chief Risk Officer

Don Noyes 
VP Finance

Michael Leonard 
President & CEO

Kim Walker 
Chief Operating 
Officer

MANAGEMENT TEAM



S
ound governance and ethical behaviour 
begins with our board of directors, which is 
accountable to our shareholder, and assumes 
responsibility for the stewardship of League 
Savings and Mortgage Company (League 
Savings). The board of directors is responsible 
for overseeing the management of the 

business and affairs of League Savings with an objective 
of enhancing stakeholder value. Among its many specific 
duties, the board approves strategic goals and business 
plans, sets policy to direct the overall operations of League 
Savings, provides advice, counsel and oversight to the 
President and CEO, oversees the ethical, legal and social 
conduct of League Savings, oversees the risk management 
of League Savings, and reviews League Savings’ ongoing 
financial performance. The board ensures that appropriate 
structures and procedures are in place to ensure its 
independence from management.

BOARD COMPOS IT ION

The League Savings and Mortgage Company Board of 
Directors consists of 12 directors:
• One director nominated by Atlantic Central Class LSM 

shareholders in New Brunswick;
• One director nominated by Atlantic Central Class LSM 

shareholders in Newfoundland and Labrador;
• One director nominated by Atlantic Central Class LSM 

shareholders in Nova Scotia;
• One director nominated by Atlantic Central Class LSM 

shareholders in Prince Edward Island;
• One director nominated by all Atlantic Central Class 

LSM shareholders;
• One director appointed by LSM Board to fill the need for 

identified competencies; and
• Six directors appointed by the sole Common 

Shareholder, League Savings’ parent, Atlantic Central 
(“Central”). 

As noted above, the board appoints a director to fill the 
need for identified competencies. In March 2021, the board 
appointed Corina Farbacher to fill this role. 

The following individuals currently serve on the board 
of directors:

Raymond Surette, Chair
Pat Duffield, Vice-Chair
Corina Farbacher
Jim MacFarlane
William Marr
Sarah Millar
Paul Newman
Gary O’Brien
Carol Ripley
George Smith
William Timmons
Sally van de Wiel

The board and each committee meet at least once each 
fiscal quarter, and the board holds an annual strategic 
planning session. The board meets at other times when 
matters requiring its approval or consideration are raised 
and it is not possible or prudent to wait for the next 
regularly scheduled meeting. The board met six times 
in 2021.

CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE
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COMMITTEES  OF  THE  BOARD

The board has established the following standing 
committees: Audit, Risk, Conduct Review, Co-operative 
Social Responsibility, Executive, Human Resource and 
Compensation, and Governance.

Audit, Risk and Conduct Review Committees
The committees consist of at least four directors, none 
of whom is an employee or officer of League Savings or 
Central. The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring 
that management has designed and implemented an 
effective system of financial management and related 
internal controls. It reviews and reports on the audited 
financial statements and ensures compliance with 
certain regulatory and statutory requirements. It is also 
responsible for meeting periodically with internal and 
external auditors. The Risk Committee is responsible for 
ensuring that management has developed and maintained 
an effective Enterprise Risk Management Framework 
for evaluating the business strategies being used for the 
allocation of human, capital and other resources. The 
Conduct Review Committee is responsible for ensuring 
that League Savings has developed and adheres to ethical 
standards and sound business conduct in such areas as 
conflict of interest and related party procedures.

Committees Members: Carol Ripley (Chair), Corina 
Farbacher, William Marr, Paul Newman, and George Smith

Co-operative Social Responsibility Committee
The Joint Central and League Savings Co-operative Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Committee is comprised of at least 
one director from each of Central and League Savings and 
representatives from each of the Atlantic Provinces. The 
CSR Committee develops and supports clear and precise 
policy statements for consideration by the board that help 
define our belief in social well-being and sustainability. 
The committee recommends to the board priorities for 
charitable giving and awards and recognition programs, 
and provides related oversight to these priorities and 
programs. In addition, the committee ensures sustainability 
and environmental impacts are considered in the 
management of premises and operations.

(Joint) Committee Members: Gary O’Brien (Chair), Lisa 
Loughery (AC), Camille Maillet (AC), Sarah Millar, and 
Thomas Vickers (AC)

Executive, Human Resource and Compensation 
Committee
This committee’s four members include the board chair, 
the vice-chair and two directors elected at-large by the 
Board. This committee is responsible for addressing matters 
between scheduled board meetings that require immediate 
attention, for approving credit applications that are above 
management lending limits, and also acts as a Human 
Resources Committee. 

Committee Members: Raymond Surette (Chair), Pat 
Duffield (Vice-Chair), Jim MacFarlane, and Paul Newman

Governance Committee
The committee consists of at least four directors. The 
Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing and 
recommending changes to the governance structure 
of League Savings and for ensuring that an effective 
governance system is in place, including a schedule for 
regular policy review and compliance. In addition, this 
committee ensures board decisions and positions are 
appropriately translated into documented policies. Policies 
developed by the committee are forwarded to the board 
for its consideration and approval. The committee oversees 
the procedures for nominating directors for the League 
Savings and Mortgage Board of Directors. The committee 
is responsible for overseeing the director evaluation 
process, board competencies, and the ongoing training and 
development of board members.

Committee Members: Pat Duffield (Chair), Jim 
MacFarlane, Raymond Surette, William Timmons, and Sally 
van de Wiel

MANDATE  OF  THE  BOARD 
OF  D IRECTORS

While the board’s fundamental responsibility is to oversee 
the management of the business and affairs of League 
Savings, any responsibility that is not specifically delegated 
to the President and CEO remains with the board. In 
particular, the board oversees League Savings’ strategic 
direction to ensure it serves the organization, Central’s 
member credit unions, employees, and communities 
of New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova 
Scotia, and Prince Edward Island. The board assumes 
overall stewardship with respect to League Savings’ 
purpose and values, its long-term objectives and the 
approval of corporate strategies. Specifically, the board is 
responsible for:
• the evaluation of the President and CEO; 
• establishing and approving board policies;
• overseeing League Savings’ internal control framework;
• developing and approving League Savings’ strategic goals 

and business plans;
• providing advice to the President and CEO;
• evaluating the board’s performance and overseeing the 

ethical, legal and social conduct of the organization; and
• reviewing the financial performance and condition of 

the organization.
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Name
Board and  

Planning Session

Audit, Risk & 
Conduct Review 

Committees

Co-operative Social
Responsibility 

Committee

Executive, HR & 
Compensation

Committee
Governance
Committee

Raymond Surette* 6/6 5/5 3/3

Pat Duffield* 6/6 5/5 4/4

Corina Farbacher 6/6 3/3

Jim MacFarlane* 6/6 10/10 4/4

William Marr 5/6 4/4

Sarah Millar 6/6 4/4

Paul Newman 6/6 4/4 5/5

Gary O’Brien 6/6 4/4

Carol Ripley 6/6 4/4

George Smith 6/6 4/4

William Timmons 5/6 3/3

Sally van de Wiel 5/5 3/3

*Table Officer 

ATTENDANCE  AT  BOARD AND 
COMMITTEE  MEET INGS

The board of directors recognizes the importance of each 
individual director’s participation at board and committee 
meetings. Every director is expected to attend all board 
and committee meetings unless adequate cause is given 

for missing a meeting. The following table sets out the 
attendance of each board member at board and committee 
meetings throughout 2021:

William MarrCorina Farbacher

Sarah Millar

William Timmons

Raymond Surette, Chair Pat Duffield, Vice-Chair

Paul Newman

Sally van de Wiel

Gary O’Brien Carol Ripley George Smith

Jim MacFarlane
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BOARD EVALUAT IONS

As part of its commitment to ongoing development 
and improvement, the board conducts an annual self-
evaluation. This evaluates the board’s effectiveness in the 
following governance areas: League Savings’ purpose and 
vision; strategic leadership; financial performance; internal 
controls and oversight, including financial oversight, risk 
oversight, and human resources oversight; co-operative 
social responsibility; compliance and accountability; 
stakeholder relations; board functioning and board and 
management relations; and learning and development. The 
results of the evaluation are used to guide the training and 
development agenda for the board in the upcoming year.

EVOLV ING GOVERNANCE  PRACT ICES

At League Savings, we recognize that our governance 
standards must not only evolve to respond to changes in 
our organization, the credit union system, stakeholder 
expectations and regulatory requirements, but also to 
ensure that League Savings and its stakeholders receive 
the benefit of exceptional governance practices. The board 
and management continually monitor developments 
in corporate governance practices and are committed 
to ongoing training and development to ensure that 
League Savings continues to lead the credit union system 
with its governance practices. For example, over the past 
several years, Central has increased its focus on diversity 
and inclusion.
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League Savings and Mortgage 
Company 

Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 
(expressed in Canadian dollars) 



March 11, 2022 

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements 

Management has the responsibility of preparing the accompanying financial statements and 
ensuring that all information in the annual report is consistent with the financial statements. This 
responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and making objective 
judgments and estimates in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, 
Management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal 
controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets safeguarded 
and proper records maintained. The Board has appointed an Audit Committee to review the 
annual financial statements with Management and auditors before final approval by the Board.  

The federal regulator of financial institutions conducts examinations and makes such enquiries 
into the affairs of League Savings and Mortgage Company (League Savings) as they deem 
necessary to ensure the safety of depositors and to ensure that the Company is in sound financial 
condition. Their findings are reported directly to Management. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent auditors, have examined the financial statements 
of League Savings in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and have 
expressed their opinion in the following report to shareholders. 

Michael Leonard Donald M. Noyes, CPA, CA 
President and CEO Vice President Finance 



PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Cogswell Tower, 2000 Barrington Street, Suite 1101, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada B3J 3K1 
T: +1 902 491 7400, F: +1 902 422 1166 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Shareholder of League Savings and Mortgage Company 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of League Savings and Mortgage Company (the Company) as at December 31, 2021 and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS). 

What we have audited 
The Company’s financial statements comprise: 

 the balance sheet as at December 31, 2021; 

 the statement of income for the year then ended; 

 the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

 the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended; 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 



Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 



 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Halifax, Nova Scotia 
March 11, 2022 



League Savings and Mortgage Company 
Balance Sheet 
As at December 31, 2021 

Approved on Behalf of the Board  

_____________________  _____________________  ____________________ 
Michael Leonard       Ray Surette      Carol Ripley 
President and CEO      Chair      Director 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 26,144,195 31,544
Restricted cash 2,424,001 1,200,808
Investments 6 28,318,525 29,122,308
Loans and mortgages 7 606,423,864 591,373,570
Accrued interest 1,145,941 1,448,298
Deferred tax assets 14 599,548 781,501
Securitization assets 8 101,811,321 86,716,469
Income tax receivable 125,614 - 
Capital tax receivable - 20,219
Other assets 5,624,771 4,665,762

772,617,780 715,360,479

Liabilities

Borrowings 16 - 5,663,241
Deposits 9 417,791,902 372,221,116
Accrued interest 2,370,200 3,159,239
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,364,763 10,240,373
Servicing liabilities 35,834,245 28,519,061
Capital tax payable 96,466 -
Income tax payable - 48,332
Mortgage backed securities  8 233,922,763 238,696,173

700,380,339 658,547,535

Shareholder’s equity

Capital stock  10 36,715,987 25,873,258
Contributed surplus 1,785,887 1,785,887
Retained earnings 33,712,774 28,494,167
Accumulated other comprehensive income 22,793 659,632

72,237,441 56,812,944

772,617,780 715,360,479

Commitments and contractual obligations 13 



League Savings and Mortgage Company 
Statement of Income  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Financial income
Income from investments 478,218 837,700
Interest on loans and mortgages 22,419,126 22,025,059 

22,897,344 22,862,759

Financial expense 9,963,513 12,832,367

Gross financial margin 12,933,831 10,030,392
Provision for credit losses (recoveries) (669,229) 713,933

Net financial margin 13,603,060 9,316,459
Securitization gains 8 3,697,326 4,445,689
Non-interest expense 18 (1,444,277) (1,306,533)

15,856,109 12,455,615

Operating expenses
Management fees 12 4,593,980 4,676,990
Office expense 346,580 342,848
Democracy 216,281 161,368
Professional fees 150,916 117,417
Other expenses 254,093 175,754

5,561,850 5,474,377

Operating income 10,294,259 6,981,238

Initiatives and restructuring expenses 19 - 168,760

Income before income taxes 10,294,259 6,812,478

Capital tax 14 1,761,466 1,114,935
Income taxes  14 2,471,457 1,720,328

Net income for the year 6,061,336 3,977,215



League Savings and Mortgage Company 
Statement of Comprehensive Income  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Net income for the year 6,061,336 3,977,215

Other comprehensive income (OCI)

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to income
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments at fair value through OCI

Net unrealized gains (losses) on mark to market investments (896,957) 1,159,388
Reclassification of net realized gains (losses) to net income - (257,553)

Income tax expense (recovery) 14 
On unrealized gains (losses) on mark to market investments 260,118 (342,007)
On reclassification of net realized gains (losses) to net income - 75,978

Other comprehensive income (loss) (636,839) 635,806

Comprehensive income 5,424,497 4,613,021



League Savings and Mortgage Company 
Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity  
For the year ended December 31, 2021 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Common 
shares 

$  

Contributed 
surplus 

$  

Retained 
earnings 

$  

Accumulated
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

$  
Total equity 

$ 
(note 10)

Year ended December 31, 2021

Balance – Beginning of year 25,873,258 1,785,887 28,494,167 659,632 56,812,944

Net income - - 6,061,336 - 6,061,336
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax - - - (636,839) (636,839)

Comprehensive income (loss) - - 6,061,336 (636,839) 5,424,497

Shares issued 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
Shares redeemed - - - - -
Stock dividend 842,729 - (842,729) - -

Balance – End of year 36,715,987 1,785,887 33,712,774 22,793 72,237,441

Year ended December 31, 2020

Balance – Beginning of year 23,058,613 1,785,887 25,331,597 23,826 50,199,923

Net income - - 3,977,215 - 3,977,215
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax - - - 635,806 635,806

Comprehensive income (loss) - - 3,977,215 635,806 4,613,021

Shares issued 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
Shares redeemed - - - - -
Stock dividend 814,645 - (814,645) - -

Balance – End of year 25,873,258 1,785,887 28,494,167 659,632 56,812,944



League Savings and Mortgage Company 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended December 31, 2021  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2021
$  

2020
$ 

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Net income for the year 6,061,336 3,977,215
Adjustments

Loans and mortgages, net (15,050,294) 13,231,588
Deposits, net 45,570,786 (32,020,963)
Mortgage backed securities, net (4,773,410) 15,081,401
Interest receivable/payable, net (486,682) (717,065)
Income taxes receivable/payable, net (173,946) (235,419)
Deferred tax assets, net 181,953 (161,975)
Other items, net (8,497,602) (10,818,661)

22,832,141 (11,663,879)

Financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance (redemption) of capital 10,000,000 2,000,000

Investing activities
Investments, net 166,944 (450,805)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 32,999,085 (10,114,684)

Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of year (4,430,889) 5,683,795

Cash and cash equivalents – End of year 28,568,196 (4,430,889)

Cash and cash equivalents include
Cash and balances with financial institutions 26,144,195 31,544
Restricted cash 2,424,001 1,200,808
Cash from borrowings - (5,663,241)

28,568,196 (4,430,889)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest received 23,186,607 22,784,100
Dividends received 13,094 12,594
Interest paid 10,752,552 13,483,367
Income taxes paid, net of refunds 2,203,332 2,381,006
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1 Reporting entity 

League Savings and Mortgage Company (the Company) is incorporated in Canada under the Trust and Loan 
Companies Act (Canada). The Company is a member of Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation and is 
regulated by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI). Its head office is located at 
6074 Lady Hammond Road in Halifax, Nova Scotia. The Company provides financial services to credit unions, 
their members and others.  

Atlantic Central (Central) owns 100% of the common shares. Central is the continuance of Credit Union 
Central of Nova Scotia and is owned by credit unions in the Atlantic provinces. 

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 11, 2022. 

2 Basis of presentation 

The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB). The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set 
out in note 4. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments as indicated in note 4.  

The Company presents its balance sheet on a non-classified basis. The following balances are generally 
classified as current: cash and cash equivalents, fixed income investments and loans and mortgages 
maturing within one-year, other assets, borrowings, demand deposits, term deposits and mortgage backed 
securities maturing within one-year and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

3 Changes in accounting standards  

Changes in accounting policies during the year 

There were no changes in accounting policies during the year that had a significant impact on the Company. 

Future changes in accounting policies 

There are no changes in accounting policies, that have been issued but are not yet effective, that are 
expected to have a significant impact on the Company. 

4 Summary of significant accounting policies 

Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances held with financial institutions.  

Restricted cash includes cash balances segregated and held with financial institutions for specific mortgage 
backed securities (MBS) program clearing activities. 
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Financial instruments 

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: Fair value through profit 
and loss (FVTPL); fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or amortized cost. Management 
determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.  

The accounting policies related to these financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 

Measurement methods – Amortized cost and effective interest rate 

The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization, using the effective 
interest method, of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial 
assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial 
asset (i.e. it is amortized cost before any loan loss allowance) or to the amortized cost of a financial liability. 
The calculation does not consider expected credit losses (ECLs) and includes transaction costs, premiums or 
discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as 
origination fees.  

When the Company revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial 
assets or financial liabilities is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective 
interest rate. Any changes are recognized in net income. 

Interest income 

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial 
assets, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (or 'Stage 3'), for which 
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortized cost (i.e. net of the ECL 
provision). Expenses incurred directly in the origination of loans and mortgages are deferred and recognized 
in the statement of income as a reduction to income of the expected life of the relevant loans and mortgages. 

Initial recognition and measurement 

The Company recognizes loans and mortgages on the date on which they are originated. All other financial 
instruments are recognized on the trade date, which is the date on which the Company becomes party to the 
contractual provision of the instrument. A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value 
plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 
Immediately after initial recognition, an ECL allowance is recognized for financial assets measured at 
amortized cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results in an accounting loss 
being recognized in net income when an asset is newly originated.  

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, 
the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined 
individually. It is either amortized over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value 
can be determined using market observable inputs or realized through settlement. 
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Classification and subsequent measurement 

Assets carried at amortized cost are measured as outlined above. 

Leases 

The Company classifies a contract, or component of a contract, as a lease if it conveys a right to control the 
use of an identifiable asset for a period in exchange for consideration. 

At inception, the Company classifies a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of the underlying asset as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the Company recognizes a finance lease receivable in the 
balance sheet representing its net investment in the lease. Interest income is recognized over the term of the 
lease using the implicit interest rate, which reflects a constant rate of return. For operating leases, the 
Company recognizes lease payments received as income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Investments 

The classification requirements for debt and equity investments are described below: 

Debt instruments  

Debt instruments are instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s perspective; 
such as loans and government and corporate bonds. The classification and subsequent measurement of debt 
instruments depends on the business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the 
asset. 

Based on these factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the following two 
measurement categories:  

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, 
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) are measured 
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income (OCI), 
except for interest revenue, ECL and reversals and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are 
recognized in income or loss. When the debt instrument is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to income or loss. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in interest on investments using the effective interest rate method.  

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain 
or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL and is not part of a hedging 
relationship is included in interest on investments.  

Business model  

The Company considers the following in the determination of the applicable business model for financial 
assets: 

the business purpose of the portfolio, such as a focus on earning contractual interest income or a 
focus on matching the duration of the liabilities that are funding the assets; 

the risks that are being managed and the type of activities that are carried out on a day-to-day basis 
to manage the risks; 

the basis on which performance of the portfolio is being evaluated; and
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the frequency and significance of sales activity in prior periods and expectations about future sales 
activity.  

The Company has established specific criteria for financial assets that are originated or acquired for the 
purpose of securitization in a subsequent period. If, at origination or acquisition, based on this established 
criterion, the financial asset is expected to be securitized as part of a portfolio that qualifies for derecognition, 
the business objective of holding the financial asset to collect contractual cash flows is not met. Such 
financial assets are measured at FVTPL. If the portfolio does not qualify for derecognition, the Company has 
elected to determine the business model based on the accounting result of the securitization. As such, the 
held-to-collect business model is considered to be met. 

SPPI 

Where the business model is to hold to collect contractual cash flows, or to collect contractual cash flows and 
sell, the Company considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement (i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic 
lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement). Where the contractual 
terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that is inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the 
related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL.  

The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those 
assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the 
change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the year.  

Equity instruments  

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, 
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the 
issuer’s net assets. The Company elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain equity 
instruments that are not held for trading.  

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never reclassified to income or loss and no impairment is 
recognized in income or loss. Dividends are recognized in investment income unless they clearly represent a 
recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are recognized in OCI.  

Dividend income on investments is recognized when the right to receive income is established. 

Impairment 

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis ECL associated with its assets carried at amortized cost 
and FVOCI. The Company recognized a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The 
measurement of ECL reflects reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or 
effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic 
conditions.  

Debt instruments carried at FVOCI are considered to have low credit risk; the loss allowance recognized 
during the period was therefore limited to twelve months ECL. Management considers ‘low credit risk’ to be, 
in the absence of evidence of an increase in credit risk, investments in government debt instruments and 
investments in financial institutions that have been designated as a domestic systemically important bank (D-
SIB) or a global systemically important bank (G-SIB). Other instruments are considered to be low credit risk 
when they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow 
obligations in the near term. 

Note 5 provides more detail on how the ECL is measured.  
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Modifications of loans 

The Company sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans. When this 
happens, the Company assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different than the original 
terms. The Company does this by considering, among others, the following factors: 

if the borrower is in financial difficulty, where the modification merely reduces the contractual cash 
flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay; 

significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty; 

significant change in the interest rate;  

change in the currency the loan is denominated in;  

Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk 
associated with the loan; or 

If the terms are substantially different, the Company derecognizes the original financial asset, 
recognizes a new asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The 
date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment 
calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit 
risk has occurred. However, the Company also assesses whether the new financial asset recognized is 
deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation 
was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed upon payments. Differences in the 
carrying amount are also recognized in net income as a gain or loss on derecognition. 

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, 
and the Company recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial 
asset and recognizes a modification gain or loss in net income. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated 
by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets). 

Derecognition other than on a modification  

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset have expired, 
or the Company transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay those cash flows to a third-party and the Company has transferred substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership of that asset to a third-party. A financial liability is derecognized when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

The Company enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from 
assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards.  

These transactions are accounted for as "pass through" transfers that result in derecognition if the Company: 

has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets; 

is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and  

has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay. 

Financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method.  
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Mortgage backed securities 

The Company securitizes insured residential mortgages through the creation of MBS under the National 
Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities (NHA MBS) program sponsored by Canada Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation (CMHC). All loans securitized under the NHA MBS program are required to be insured by the 
CMHC or a third-party insurer. The NHA MBS program utilizes a Central Payor and Transfer Agent (CPTA). 
The use of one designated CPTA for all issuers makes greater program efficiency possible in paying investors, 
transferring NHA MBS and issuing new NHA MBS. 

The MBS created under the program are sold to third-party investors (Market MBS) or to Canada Housing 
Trust (CHT), a CMHC sponsored structured entity, under the Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) program.  

In a Market MBS, the CPTA registers the NHA MBS and issues NHA MBS Certificates to investors, and CMHC 
provides a guarantee of the timely payment of amounts due to the investors. The MBS are backed by the 
residential mortgages and amortize in step with the mortgages underlying the security.  

In the CMB program, the CHT aggregates NHA MBS from multiple issuers, financing the purchase of the NHA 
MBS through the issuance of securities to third-party investors. These CMB securities provide investors with 
semi-annual interest payments over the term of the bond and the repayment of the principal balance on the 
specified maturity date. The timely payment of interest and principal to investors is guaranteed by CMHC. 

The Company uses these securitization programs to diversify its funding sources. 

With Market MBS, the Company typically continues to administer the loans securitized and is entitled to the 
payments received on the mortgages. At the same time, the Company is obligated to make the payments 
due on the issued MBS, including the investment yield due to the investors in the security, regardless of 
whether the Company has collected the funds from the mortgagor.  

The Company also purchases pools of mortgages to sell into the CMB program. These mortgage pools are 
typically administered by a third-party mortgage servicer for a fee. For these pools, the Company is also 
entitled to the payments received on the mortgages and obligated to make the payments due on the issued 
MBS.  

Unlike the Market MBS, the CMB securities do not amortize in step with the underlying mortgages. As a 
result, the CMB program requires the provision of replacement MBS securities to offset the declining balance 
of the underlying mortgages through principal payments. The CMB program also requires an interest rate 
swap agreement under which a Swap Counterparty pays the CHT the interest due to investors and receives 
the interest on the NHA MBS securities. For a fee, the Company has contracted with a third-party financial 
institution to take on the requirements to provide the replacement NHA MBS securities and to act as the 
Swap Counterparty.  

Derecognition 

The sale of mortgages through the NHA MBS program does not meet the requirements for derecognition if 
the Company has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying 
mortgages, as it retains the prepayment, credit and interest rate risk associated with the mortgages. For 
sales of MBS that do not qualify for derecognition, the Company continues to recognize the underlying 
mortgages in assets as secured loans and the cash proceeds from the securitization are recognized as 
liabilities.  
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Securitization retained interests and servicing liabilities 

In certain cases, the Company has purchased pools of mortgages for subsequent sale into the CMB program 
where the Company’s exposure to risks and rewards from the securitized assets is quite limited. In these 
transactions, the Company retains the rights to the future excess interest spread and the liability associated 
with servicing the assets sold, with very little exposure to variable cash flows.  

The Company accounts for its retained interests and servicing liabilities on the balance sheet, in securitization 
assets and accounts payable and other accrued liabilities, respectively. During the life of the securitization, as 
cash is received, the retained interest and the servicing liability are amortized and recognized in the 
statement of income under interest on loans and mortgages and non-interest income (securitization 
expenses), respectively. 

Gains on securitization 

When these assets are derecognized, the gains or losses on the transactions are recorded in securitization 
gains and are dependent in part on the previous carrying amount of the financial assets involved in the 
transfer. The proceeds of the sale are allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests, based on 
their relative fair value at the date of transfer and net of transaction costs. 

Deposits 

Deposits are measured at fair value on recognition net of transaction costs directly attributable to issuance. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and the revenue can readily be measured. The principal sources of revenue are interest and fee income. 
Operating expenses are recognized upon the utilization of the services.  

Fee income, including account servicing fees, loan fees, discharge fees and administration fees are 
recognized as the services are provided.  

Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net 
income except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity 
or in OCI. 

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income 
or loss for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years. Current 
income taxes are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. 
This amount is determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the year-end date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs 
from its tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and 
temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a 
business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax (losses), tax credits and deductible temporary differences is 
restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available which allow the 
deferred tax asset to be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
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The amount of the deferred tax asset or liability is measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities. This amount is determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date and are expected to apply when the liabilities / 
(assets) are settled / (recovered). 

Initiatives and restructuring 

Expenses that are not expected to recur in normal operations, including certain expenses relating to system 
initiatives or other organizational changes, are reported in initiatives and restructuring expenses. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

In preparing the Company’s financial statements, Management is required to make estimates, judgments and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 
the period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recorded in the period 
in which the estimate reversed if the revision affects only that period or in the period of revision and in future 
periods if the revision affects both the current and future periods.  

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a strain of novel coronavirus 
disease, COVID-19, a global pandemic. The Canadian economy experienced significant disruption and market 
volatility related to the pandemic. In 2021, COVID-19 persisted, resulting in new variants of the virus 
throughout the year. In late 2021, the Omicron variant of COVID-19 spread worldwide, adding further 
uncertainty. The overall impact of the pandemic continues to be uncertain and is dependent on actions taken 
by Canadian governments, businesses, and individuals to limit spread of COVID-19, as well as government 
economic response and support efforts.  

Due to the unprecedented nature of the pandemic, developing reliable estimates and applying judgment 
remains difficult. Accounting for ECL remains difficult in the current circumstances. Consideration is given 
both to the effects of COVID-19 and the significant government support measures, however, significant 
measurement uncertainty exists in determining ECLs and measurement is subject to significant judgment. 

The judgments and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements are decisions with respect to the fair value of financial instruments, the allowance for loan losses, 
the derecognition of loans and mortgages and income taxes. 

Fair value of financial instruments 

The determination of the fair value of financial instruments requires the exercise of judgment by 
Management. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets at the balance sheet date is 
based on their quoted market prices. Where independent quoted market prices do not exist, fair value may 
be based on other observable current market transactions or based on a valuation technique which 
maximizes the use of observable market inputs.  

For certain types of equity instruments, where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not 
otherwise available, fair value is considered to approximate par value based on the terms of those 
instruments. The Company continues to monitor these instruments for any indication that a new measure of 
fair value is available.  
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ECL allowance 

The Company reviews its loan portfolio to assess the ECL allowance for loans at least on a quarterly basis. 
The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortized cost and FVOCI is an area 
that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and 
credit behaviour (i.e. the likelihood of members defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the 
inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in note 5. 

A number of significant judgments are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring 
ECL, such as: 

determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk (SICR); 

choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; and 

establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 

The judgments, inputs, methodology and assumptions used for estimating the ECL allowance are reviewed 
regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

Derecognition of loans and mortgages 

In determining whether to derecognize loans and mortgages, judgment is applied in determining whether the 
Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership in transferring the assets to 
another entity.  

Income taxes 

The determination of deferred tax assets or liabilities requires judgment as the recognition is dependent on 
projections of future taxable profits and tax rates that are expected to be in effect in the period the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled.  

5 Risk management 

The Company has an enterprise-wide approach to the identification, measurement, monitoring and 
management of risks faced across the organization. The Company manages significant risks efficiently and 
effectively through an Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERM) which includes a comprehensive 
infrastructure of policies, procedures, methods, oversight and independent review, designed to reduce the 
significant risks and to manage those risks within appropriate tolerances for the Company. 

Authority for all risk-taking activities rests with the Board, which approves the Company’s Risk Appetite 
Statement and risk management policies, delegates limits and regularly reviews Management’s risk 
assessments and compliance with approved policies. Qualified professionals throughout the Company 
manage these risks through comprehensive and integrated control processes and models, including regular 
review and assessment of risk measurement and reporting processes.  

The various processes within the Company’s risk management framework are designed to ensure that risks in 
the various business activities are properly identified, measured, stress tested, assessed and controlled. 
Internal Audit reports independently to the Audit, Risk and Conduct Review Committees of the Board on the 
effectiveness of the risk management policies and the extent to which internal controls are in place and 
operating effectively. 
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Stress testing is a risk measurement technique that examines the potential effects on the Company’s 
financial condition resulting from adverse economic, liquidity, credit, and/or financial market conditions. The 
Company’s risk management processes include stress testing scenarios including exceptional but plausible 
adverse events that can impact the Company’s financial results and capital requirements, the results of which 
are used to enhance our understanding of our risk profile, and to support our strategic decision making. 
Stress testing results are also explicitly incorporated into the Company’s Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Capital Plan. 

The Chief Risk Officer is responsible for the oversight of risk management across the organization and reports 
quarterly to the Risk Committee and the Board. The Management Risk Committee (MRC) is responsible for 
the review and evaluation of the financial risks and performance of the Company, including the management 
of: 

Credit risk Liquidity 

Interest rate risk  Foreign exchange 

Investment portfolio Derivatives 

Large exposures Capital 

The MRC reviews financial risk management policies, recommends changes to policies and procedures as 
appropriate, and monitors compliance with financial policies.  

The Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO) has been established to ensure the effective and prudent 
management of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities. ALCO will achieve this by developing and 
implementing financial strategies and related processes consistent with the short and long-term goals set by 
the Board.  

The Company’s principal business activities result in a balance sheet that consists primarily of financial 
instruments. The key risks related to the Company’s financial instruments are credit, liquidity and market 
risk. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the potential for loss due to the failure of a borrower, counterparty, endorser or guarantor to 
fulfill its payment obligation to the Company. Credit risk arises in the Company’s direct lending operations 
and in its funding and investing activities where counterparties have repayment or other obligations to the 
Company. There is also credit risk in unfunded loan commitments. The Company has established policies and 
procedures for credit risk management, including individual counterparty limits and portfolio category limits 
relating to investment activities.  

Management of credit risk requires prudent and conservative underwriting criteria administered by well-
trained and experienced personnel. Credit risk management practices also include consistent and timely 
collection procedures, conservative analysis of property appraisals and a realistic credit allowance process to 
provide a regular evaluation of the loan portfolio. Credit policies are reviewed and approved annually by the 
Board. Management regularly reviews its credit procedures to ensure they provide extensive, up-to-date 
guidance for the underwriting and administration of all types of loans.   

All loans are risk rated at the time of approval and may be subject to subsequent risk assessment based on 
factors such as loan type, amount, original risk rating and payment history. Loans with higher risk require 
more intensive analysis and higher levels of approval. The Credit Committee of the Board reviews all loans 
above the lending limits of Management.  
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The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies 
with changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk 
of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated 
loss ratios and of default correlations between counterparties. 

The Company has developed models to support the quantification of the credit risk. These rating and scoring 
models are in use for all key credit portfolios and form the basis for measuring default risks. In measuring 
credit risk of loan and advances at a counterparty level, the Company considers three components:  

the probability of default (PD) by the borrower or counterparty on its contractual obligations;  

current exposures to the counterparty and its likely future development, from which the Company 
derives the exposure at default (EAD); and  

the likely recovery ratio on the defaulted obligations loss given default (LGD).  

The models are reviewed regularly to monitor their robustness relative to actual performance and amended 
as necessary to optimize their effectiveness. 

The classes of financial instruments to which the Company is most exposed to credit risk are cash, 
investments and loans and mortgages.  

ECL measurement 

IFRS 9, Financial instruments, outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit 
quality since initial recognition as summarized below: 

a financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has 
its credit risk continuously monitored by the Company; 

if a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is 
moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired; and  

if the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. 

Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the ECLs that result from 
default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured 
based on ECLs on a lifetime basis. 

The key judgments and assumptions adopted by the Company in addressing the requirements of the 
standard are discussed below: 

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information and is performed on a quarterly basis at a 
portfolio level for all instruments held by the Company. A watch list is used to monitor credit risk; this 
assessment is performed at the counterparty level and on a periodic basis. The criteria used to identify SICR 
are monitored and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by Management. 

The Company considers a financial instrument to have experienced a SICR when one or more of the following 
quantitative or qualitative criteria have been met: 

for consumer and residential loans: 
o contractual cash flow obligations are more than 30 days past due, and/or; 
o available information at the reporting date indicates that the ability of the borrower to fulfill its 

contractual cash flow obligations will be reduced (i.e. using internal watch lists for monitoring the 
credit risk of borrowers); and
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for commercial loans: 
o contractual cash flow obligations are more than 30 days past due; and/or 
o available information at the reporting date indicates that the ability of the borrower to fulfill its 

contractual cash flow obligations will be reduced (i.e. significant deterioration in risk rating, in 
short-term forbearance, early signs of cash flow/liquidity problems, adverse change in operating 
results, adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions in which the business 
operates). 

The Company has used the low credit risk exemption for certain investment grade securities.  

Definition of default and credit-impaired assets 

The Company defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-
impaired, when it meets one or more of the following: 

the borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments; 

the borrower is in long-term forbearance; and 

the borrower is insolvent or has filed for bankruptcy. 

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Company and are consistent 
with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has 
been applied consistently to model the PD, EAD and LGD throughout the Company’s ECL calculations. 

An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the 
default criteria. 

Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques 

The ECL is measured on either a 12-month or lifetime basis, depending on whether a SICR has occurred 
since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. ECLs are the discounted 
product of the PD, EAD and LGD, defined as follows: 

PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation, either over the next 12 
months or over the remaining lifetime of the obligation; 

EAD is based on the amounts the Company expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 
12 months or over the remaining lifetime; and  

LGD represents the Company’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies 
by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit 
support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of EAD. LGD is calculated on a 12-month or 
lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be incurred if the default 
occurs in the next 12 months and lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be incurred if the 
default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the loan. 

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each individual 
exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the 
likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively 
calculates an ECL for each future month.  

The lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12-month PD. The maturity profile 
looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the 
loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all 
assets within a portfolio.  
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The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by 
product type. For amortizing products this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower 
over a 12-month or lifetime basis.  

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post 
default. These vary by product type: 

for secured products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values, 
historical discounts to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and expected 
recovery costs; and 

for unsecured products, LGDs are typically set at product level due to the limited differentiation in 
recoveries achieved across different borrowers. These LGDs are influenced by collection strategies. 

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation, such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and collateral 
values change, etc., are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis. 

There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
reporting period. 

Collateral held and other credit risk enhancements 

The Company employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common is 
accepting collateral for funds advanced. A valuation of the collateral obtained is prepared as part of the loan 
origination process. The principal collateral types for loans and advances are mortgages over residential 
properties and charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable. The 
Company’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period 
and there has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral held since the prior period.  

Assets obtained by the Company, by taking possession of collateral held as security against loans and 
advances, are included in other assets. The balance held as at December 31, 2021 was $9,479 (2020 – 
$645,820). 

Management regularly monitors the Company’s credit risk and reports to the Board on a quarterly basis. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity refers to the capacity to generate or obtain sufficient cash or its equivalent in a timely manner at a 
reasonable price to meet the Company’s commitments as they fall due and to fund new business 
opportunities. Liquidity risk is the potential for losses to be incurred from holding insufficient liquidity to 
survive a contingent stress event. 

In its role as a credit union service partner, the Company’s primary financial role is to accept deposits from 
credit unions, their members and others, and to employ those funds to advance loans and mortgages to 
credit union members and others. 

The Company has established policies to ensure that it is able to generate sufficient funds to meet all its 
financial commitments in a timely and cost-effective manner. In addition, a liquidity plan is prepared which 
forecasts the amount of liquidity required and the sources that will be used to fund those requirements. 
These policies and plans are annually reviewed and approved by the Board.  



League Savings and Mortgage Company 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021  

(14)

The Company’s liquidity management practices include: 

ensuring the quality of investments acquired for liquidity purposes meet very high standards;  

matching the maturities of assets and liabilities; 

diversifying funding sources;  

establishing and maintaining minimum liquidity reserves;  

monitoring actual cash flows on a daily basis;  

monitoring economic, market, and local trends and forecasting future cash flow requirements; 

utilizing lines of credit to fund temporary needs and selling or securitizing mortgage pools to meet 
longer term requirements;  

stress testing scenarios to determine the ability to withstand various unanticipated events; and 

contingency planning.  

The Company’s cash flows are most significantly impacted by its credit union corporate deposits. As such, its 
scenario testing focuses on increases in the redemptions of these deposits. The matching of the maturities of 
assets and liabilities are detailed in note 11. 

Management monitors the Company’s liquidity position daily and reports to the Board on a quarterly basis.  

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss that results from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity 
prices and commodity prices. Market risk exposures are managed through policies, standards and limits 
established by the Board, which are formally reviewed and approved annually. This includes limits on the 
mismatch of foreign currency assets and liabilities, and limits on the amount of equity investments permitted 
in the securities portfolio. The Company has no exposure to commodity prices. 

The Company uses a variety of techniques to identify, measure and control market risk. Derivatives may be 
used only to offset clearly identified risks. The Company has developed standards regarding the use of 
derivative products.  

Interest rate risk is the risk that a movement in interest rates will have on the financial condition of the 
Company. The Company’s interest rate risk policies include limits on the allowable variation in forecasted 
financial margin due to interest rate changes. The Company manages and controls interest rate risk primarily 
by managing asset/liability maturities; however, off-balance sheet techniques such as interest rate risk 
contracts may be used to hedge against specific interest rate exposures.  

The Company measures interest rate risk through a combination of gap and income simulation analysis 
monthly. Gap analysis measures the difference between the amount of assets and liabilities repricing in 
specific time periods. Income simulation models are used to measure interest rate exposure under various 
assumptions about interest rates, products, volumes and pricing. Sensitivity analysis of an interest rate 
increase or decrease of 100 basis points is disclosed in the table below.  
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Earnings at risk over the next 12 months as at December 31:  

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

100 basis point increase 201,740 (510,110)

100 basis point decrease (300,870) (77,290)

Management provides quarterly reports to the Board on interest rate risk. The Board has established limits 
on the Company’s maximum exposure to interest rate risk and the Company’s earnings at risk were within 
this limit. 

6 Investments 

Debt instruments are carried at FVOCI. For equity investments, the Company has also elected to measure the 
investments at FVOCI. 

2021  2020 

Cost 
$  

Market 
value 

$  
Cost 

$  

Market 
value 

$ 

Government debt 28,135,814  27,997,750  28,042,640  28,847,783 
Co-operative equities  4,025  4,025  4,025  4,025 
Corporate equities 50,000  316,750  50,000  270,500 

28,189,839  28,318,525  28,096,665  29,122,308 

7 Loans and mortgages 

As at December 31, 2021, loans are presented net of ECLs. Loans are initially measured at fair value and are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

Total loans 
$  

Allowance 
for credit 

losses 
$  

Net loans 
$ 

2021 
Residential 395,969,697  474,954  395,494,743 
Commercial 207,718,661  1,400,989  206,317,672 
Commercial leases 3,212,446  50,288  3,162,158 
Other 1,519,926  70,635  1,449,291 

608,420,730  1,996,866  606,423,864 

2020
Residential 400,542,380  625,516  399,916,864 
Commercial 189,547,194  1,806,786  187,740,408 
Commercial leases -  -  - 
Other 3,904,892  188,594  3,716,298 

593,994,466  2,620,896  591,373,570 
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The following table is a summary of loans and mortgages by ECL impairment stage. Stage 1 represents those 
performing loans carried with a 12-month ECL, Stage 2 represents those performing loans carried with a 
lifetime ECL and Stage 3 represents those loans with a lifetime credit loss that are considered impaired. The 
gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk on these assets. 

Performing Impaired  
Stage 1 

$  
Stage 2 

$  
Stage 3 

$  
Total 

$ 

2021 
Residential 395,064,553  700,872  204,273  395,969,697 
Commercial 207,718,661  -  -  207,718,661 
Commercial leases 3,212,446  -  -  3,212,446 
Other 1,516,836  2,152  937  1,519,926 

607,512,496  703,024  205,210  608,420,730 

2020
Residential 399,065,147  1,193,772  283,460  400,542,380 
Commercial 189,547,194  -  -  189,547,194 
Commercial leases -  -  -  - 
Other 3,898,528  4,656  1,708  3,904,892 

592,510,869  1,198,428  285,168  593,994,466 

Loss allowance 

The loss allowance recognized in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, such as: 

transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant 
increases (or decreases) in credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent 
“step up” (or “step down”) between 12-month and lifetime ECL; 

additional allowances for new financial instruments recognized during the period, as well as releases 
for financial instruments de-recognized in the period; 

impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PD, EAD and LGD in the period, arising from 
regular refreshing of inputs to models; 

impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; 

discount unwinding within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value 
basis; and 

financial assets derecognized during the period and the write-offs of allowances related to assets that 
were written off during the period. 
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The following table presents the reconciliation of allowances for credit losses for each loan category according 
to ECL impairment stage:  

Performing Impaired  
Stage 1 

$  
Stage 2 

$  
Stage 3 

$  
Total 

$ 

Residential 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  615,463  8,779 1,273  625,515 
Transfer to (from) 

Stage 1 (4,922) 4,922 -  - 
Stage 2 1,095  (1,095) -  - 

Remeasurement (143,663) (6,360) (539) (150,562)

Balance as at December 31, 2021 467,974  6,246 734  474,954 

Commercial 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  1,806,787  - -  1,806,787 
Transfer to (from) 

Stage 1 -  - -  - 
Stage 2 -  - -  - 
Stage 3 -  - -  - 

Gross write-offs -  - (596) (596)
Recoveries  -  - 53,500  53,500 
Remeasurement (a) (405,798) - (52,904) (458,702)

Balance as at December 31, 2021 1,400,989  - -  1,400,989 

Commercial leases 
Balance as at December 31, 2020 -  - -  - 
Transfer to (from) - - - - 

Stage 1 -  - -  - 
Stage 2 -  - -  - 

Gross write-offs - - - - 
Recoveries - - - - 
Remeasurement (a) 50,288  - -  50,288 

Balance as at December 31, 2021 50,288  - -  50,288 

Other 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  183,623  3,263 1,708  188,594 
Transfer to (from) 

Stage 1 
Stage 2 

Gross write-offs (19,079) (352) (219) (19,650)
Recoveries 12,157  225  140  12,522 
Remeasurement (a) (108,314) (1,824) (692) (110,830)

Balance as at December 31, 2021 68,386  1,312 937  70,635 

Total allowance as at 
December 31, 2021 1,987,637  7,557 1,671  1,996,866 
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Performing Impaired  
Stage 1 

$  
Stage 2 

$  
Stage 3 

$  
Total 

$ 

Residential 
Balance as at December 31, 2019  731,136  7,328  5,241  743,705 
Transfer to (from) 

Stage 1 (7,446) 7,446  -  - 
Stage 2 3,667  (3,780) 113  - 
Stage 3 870  -  (870) - 

Gross write-offs -  -  (2) (2)
Recoveries -  -  2,996  2,996 
Remeasurement (112,764) (2,214) (6,205) (121,183)

Balance as at December 31, 2020 615,463  8,779  1,273  625,515 

Commercial
Balance as at December 31, 2019  1,073,742  -  168,584  1,242,326 
Transfer to (from) 

Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Stage 3 -  -  -  - 

Gross write-offs -  -  (154,758) (154,758)
Recoveries  -  -  3,000  3,000 
Remeasurement (a) 733,045  -  (16,826) 716,218 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 1,806,787  -  -  1,806,787 

Commercial leases 
Balance as at December 31, 2019 -  -  -  - 
Transfer to (from) -  -  -  - 

Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Stage 2 -  -  -  - 

Gross write-offs -  -  -  - 
Recoveries -  -  -  - 
Remeasurement (a) -  -  -  - 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 -  -  -  - 

Other
Balance as at December 31, 2019  80,965  5,551  -  86,516 
Transfer to (from) 

Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Stage 2 -  -  -  - 

Gross write-offs (28,109) (1,200) (134) (29,443)
Recoveries 9,537  407  45  9,989 
Remeasurement (a) 121,230  (1,495) 1,797  121,532 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 183,623  3,263  1,708  188,594 

Total allowance as at 
December 31, 2020 2,605,873  12,042  2,981  2,620,896 
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a) Remeasurement includes changes in the allowance related to purchases and originations, derecognition and 
maturities, partial repayments and additional draws on existing facilities, and changes in estimates relating to the 
costs and the value of collateral reflected in the realizable value of a loan.

The Company closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it 
becomes more likely that the Company will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses.  

Financial assets that are credit-impaired as at December 31 and the related collateral held are shown below: 

2021 

Balance 
$  

Collateral 
value 

$  
Allowance 

$ 

Residential 204,273  215,000  734 
Other 937  -  937 

205,210  215,000  1,671 

2020 

Balance 
$  

Collateral 
value 

$  
Allowance 

$ 

Residential 283,460  320,000  1,273 
Other 1,708  -  1,708 

285,168  320,000  2,981 

Commercial leases 

The carrying value of finance leases of certain commercial equipment where the Company is the lessor 
includes the following: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Minimum lease payments receivable: 
Not later than one year 825,590  - 
Between one and five years 2,699,021  - 
Later than five years 33,280  - 

3,557,891  - 
Unearned finance income (345,445) - 

Gross commercial leases receivable 3,212,446 - 

The average weighted term to maturity of the commercial leases is 53 months. The average weighted 
interest rate on the current receivable is 4.16%.  
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8 Mortgage backed securities 

Balances relating to MBS under the NHA MBS Program are as follows: 

a) Transferred assets that do not qualify for derecognition 

The Company securitizes insured residential mortgage loans by participating in the NHA MBS and CMB 
programs. Through the programs, the Company issues securities backed by residential mortgage loans that 
are insured against the borrowers’ default. Once the mortgage loans are securitized, the Company assigns 
the underlying mortgages and/or related securities to the CMHC. As an issuer of MBS, the Company is 
responsible for advancing all scheduled principal and interest payments to CMHC, irrespective of whether the 
amounts have been collected on the underlying transferred mortgages. 

In these securitizations, the Company retains certain prepayment risk, timely payment guarantee risk and 
interest rate risk related to the transferred mortgages. Due to retention of these risks, the transferred 
mortgages are not derecognized and the securitization proceeds are accounted for as secured borrowings. 
There are generally no ECLs on the securitized mortgage assets, as the mortgages are insured against 
default. Further, the investors and CMHC have no recourse to other assets of the Company in the event of 
failure of mortgages to pay when due. 

The following is the Company’s net positions on its securitized assets and liabilities that have not been 
derecognized: 

2021 2020 

Carrying value 

Market
MBS 

$ 
CMB 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Market
MBS 

$
CMB 

$ 
Total 

$ 

NHA MBS assets 192,055,624 42,395,864 234,451,488 161,221,644 77,919,298 239,140,942
Associated liabilities 191,594,362 42,328,401 233,922,763 160,905,150 77,791,023 238,696,173

NHA MBS assets are recognized on the balance sheet and are included as part of loans and mortgages.  

Assets pledged as collateral 

Mortgage loans are pledged against the MBS issuances. As a requirement of the NHA MBS and CMB 
programs, the Company assigns and transfers to CMHC all of its rights, title, and interest in existing 
mortgage pools. If the Company fails to make timely payment under an NHA MBS security, CMHC may 
enforce the assignment to CMHC of the mortgages included in all the mortgage pools backing the securities 
issued. If CMHC enforces the assignments, all authority and power of the Company under the terms of the 
NHA MBS guide, whether with respect to securities issued or mortgages pooled in the contract, shall pass to 
and be vested with CMHC. 
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b) Transferred assets that have been derecognized 

In addition to the MBS above, certain mortgages were sold into the CMB program and derecognized. 
Balances relating to these transferred assets are as follows: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Mortgages sold 633,302,340  766,884,757 
Gain on sales 3,697,326  4,445,689 

Cumulative balance of mortgages sold and derecognized 3,008,371,200  2,375,068,860 

Related balances as at December 31 
Retained interests 101,811,321  86,716,469 
Servicing liabilities 35,834,245  28,519,061 

9 Deposits  

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Registered 8,241,037  7,512,817 
Other demand 2,785,095  2,815,634 

Total demand deposits 11,026,132  10,328,451 

Registered 128,993,651  133,458,528 
Other term 277,772,119  228,434,137 

Total term deposits 406,765,770  361,892,665 

417,791,902  372,221,116 

10 Capital stock 

Authorized capital stock is unlimited. The amounts outstanding are as follows: 

2021 2020

Shares 
#  

Amount 
$  

Shares 
#  

Amount 
$ 

Common shares 
No par value, voting  36,715,987  36,715,987  25,873,257  25,873,257 

In 2021, the Company issued $10,000,000 (2020 – $2,000,000) in common shares and an additional 
$842,729 (2020 – $814,645) in common shares in the form of a non-cash stock dividend. 

The consideration for any shares issued or redeemed is additional common shares. 
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11 Financial instruments 

a) Interest rate risk 

The Company earns and pays interest on certain assets and liabilities. To the extent that the assets, liabilities 
and financial instruments mature or reprice at different points in time, the Company is exposed to interest 
rate risk. The table below summarizes carrying amounts of balance sheet items by the earlier of the 
contractual repricing or maturity dates. Non-interest sensitive items are those that have no maturity date 
and do not pay or receive interest. 

An estimate of prepayments has been determined by Management and includes the estimated principal 
portion of regular mortgage payments and full payouts of mortgage loans during their term based upon 
historical trends for these types of payments. 

(Reported in $000’s) 
Within 3 
months 

$  

3 months
to 1 year

$  

1 year to 
5 years 

$  

Over 5 
years 

$  

Non- 
interest 

sensitive 
$  

Total
$

Average 
rate 

% 

2021 

Assets 
Cash and investments 7,300  5,027  11,141  11,968  21,451  56,887 0.84 
Loans and mortgages 37,505  168,037  401,949  930  (1,997)  606,424 3.28 
Other assets -  -  -  -  109,307  109,307

44,805  173,064  413,090  12,898  128,761  772,618

Liabilities and equity
Borrowings  -  -  -  -  -  -
Deposits 

Fixed 27,238  234,521  145,007  -  -  406,766 1.31 
Variable 11,026  -  -  -  -  11,026 0.76 

Mortgage backed 
securities 3,371  27,640  203,441  -  (529)  233,923 1.49 

Other liabilities -  -  -  -  48,666  48,666
Equity -  -  -  -  72,237  72,237

41,635  262,161  348,448  -  120,374  772,618

Subtotal 3,170  (89,097) 64,642  12,898  8,387 -
Prepayment estimate 15,108  45,324  (60,292) (140) -  -

Excess (deficiency) 18,278  (43,773) 4,350  12,758  8,387 -
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(Reported in $000’s) 
Within 3 
months 

$

3 months
to 1 year

$

1 year to 
5 years 

$

Over 5 
years 

$

Non- 
interest 

sensitive 
$ 

Total
$

Average 
rate 

%

2020 

Assets
Cash and investments  -  4,285  13,202  10,555  2,313  30,355   1.64 
Loans and mortgages  36,792  132,317  423,506  1,380  (2,621)  591,374   3.53 
Other assets -  -  -  -  93,631  93,631

36,792  136,602  436,708  11,935  93,323  715,360

Liabilities and equity
Borrowings  5,663  -  -  -  -  5,663   1.95 
Deposits 

Fixed 46,274  201,179  114,440  -  -  361,893   1.71 
Variable 10,328  -  -  -  -  10,328   0.75 

Mortgage backed 
securities 6,846  43,939  188,356  -  (445)  238,696   1.81 

Other liabilities -  -  -  -  41,967  41,967
Equity -  -  -  -  56,813  56,813

69,111  245,118  302,796  -  98,335  715,360

Subtotal  (32,319)  (108,516)  133,912  11,935  (5,012) -
Prepayment estimate  15,933  47,800  (63,526) (207) -  -

Excess (deficiency)  (16,386)  (60,716) 70,386  11,728  (5,012) -

b) Index linked deposits 

The Company offers index linked term deposits, which are non-redeemable three and five-year term deposits 
that pay, on maturity, a return to the depositor linked to the performance of a market index. The interest 
paid to the depositor at maturity is based on the growth in the index over the term of the deposits.  

To offset the risk of this variable interest rate, the Company enters into agreements, whereby the Company 
pays a fixed rate of interest for the term of each index linked deposit based on the face value of the deposits 
sold. At the end of the term, the Company receives an amount equal to the amount that will be paid to the 
depositors. As at December 31, 2021, the balance of outstanding index linked deposits was $24,111,066 
(2020 – $4,371,666). 

c) Fair value 

The following table presents the fair value financial instruments of the Company based on the valuation 
methods and assumptions set out below. Fair value represents the amount at which an orderly transaction to 
sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date 
under current market conditions and is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.  

Fair value is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists. Quoted market prices are not available 
for a significant portion of the Company’s financial instruments.  
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The fair values disclosed exclude the values of assets and liabilities that are not considered financial 
instruments, such as prepaid expenses and balances that are statutory in nature. In addition, items such as 
the value of intangible assets, such as customer relationships which, in Management’s opinion, add 
significant value to the Company, are not included in the disclosures below.  

A three-tier hierarchy is used as a framework for disclosing fair values based on inputs used to value the 
Company’s financial instruments recorded at fair value. Valuation methods used in this framework are 
categorized under the following fair value hierarchy: 

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments;  

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly or 
indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data. This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with 
significant unobservable components. 

The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers into and out of the fair value hierarchy levels as at the date of 
the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 
the Company had no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels. 

For investments, corporate equities are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1) and government and 
corporate debt instruments are valued using market prices provided by third-party brokers (Level 2). Co-
operative equities that don’t have a quoted price in an active market are valued based on recent 
transactions. The ownership of co-operative equities is typically restricted to credit unions and other credit 
union system partners and is usually a condition of membership or necessary for access to the services 
provided by a system partner. As a result, transactions in these investments are restricted and typically occur 
at par value, which is the best estimate of fair value. 

Given the nature of most investments in co-operative equities, specifically, the fact that investments are 
typically not made for the purpose of financial gain (i.e. to earn investment income), the application of 
valuation techniques to determine fair value are typically not in use. In limited cases where such valuation 
techniques have been utilized, that information is used in determining the fair value of the co-operative 
investment. The Company continues to monitor these investments for any indication that a new measure of 
fair value is available. 

For variable rate loans and deposits, the carrying value is also considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair 
value. For fixed rate loans and mortgages, co-operative deposit investments, deposits and MBS, the fair 
value is calculated using a discounted cash flow model, based on current interest rates and the term to 
maturity of the instrument (Level 2). The discount rates applied were based on the current market rate 
offered for the average remaining term to maturity.  

The following table summarizes the fair value measurements recognized in the balance sheet by class of 
asset or liability and categorized by level according to the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements. 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accrued interest on assets and liabilities, and borrowings, 
approximates their fair value as they are short-term in nature or are receivable on demand. 

The determination of estimated fair values is based on market conditions at a specific point in time and may 
not be reflective of future fair values. 
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Level 1 
$ 

Level 2 
$ 

Level 3 
$ 

Total 
fair value 

$ 

Total 
carrying 

value 
$ 

2021 

Assets 
Investments 316,750 27,997,750 4,025 28,318,525 28,318,525 
Loans and mortgages - 605,242,400 - 605,242,400 606,423,864 

Liabilities  
Deposits - 419,802,105 - 419,802,105 417,791,902 
Mortgage backed securities - 229,611,170 - 229,611,170 233,922,763 

2020 

Assets
Investments 270,500 28,847,783 4,025 29,122,308 29,122,308 
Loans and mortgages - 603,463,651 - 603,463,651 591,373,570 

Liabilities
Deposits - 376,420,991 - 376,420,991 372,221,116 
Mortgage backed securities - 239,805,367 - 239,805,367 238,696,173 

There were no changes in the measurement of Level 3 investments in 2021 or 2020. 

12 Related party transactions 

a) Parent 

The Company has a contract with its parent, Central, for the receipt of executive and management services, 
all staffing and operational support services, and information technology and related services. This 
Management Outsourcing Agreement (MOA) became effective on January 1, 2013. On that date, the 
employees of the Company became employees of Central, with salaries and staff related expenses paid by 
the parent and allocated to the Company through a management fee.  
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The Companies also transact other business in the ordinary course of operations. The following transactions 
and balances are measured at the exchange amount: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Expenses and fees related to the management contract 4,464,980  4,539,390 
Interest expense 677,475  846,825 
Interest income 4,168  20,766 
Rental and other expenses 124,788  121,194 
Dividends 842,729  814,645 
Deposits at Central 26,125,426  - 
Borrowings from Central -  5,663,241 
Deposits from Central 51,690,916  44,690,916 
Amounts payable to Central 594,240  747,714 

Balances relating to mortgages sold 
Interest, net of administration fees 43,946  64,407 
Mortgages under administration 1,315,885  2,083,584 
Monthly remittances payable 24,925  27,520 

b) Associates 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company transacts business with League Data Limited, a related 
company by virtue of common ownership. The following transactions and balances are measured at the 
exchange amount: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Services and equipment purchases from League Data Limited 170,410  186,733 
Term deposits with League Savings 4,049,116  14,086,694 
Accounts payable to League Data Limited 13,105  13,257 

c) Key management personnel 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Company, and include members of the Board, the President and CEO, and 
other senior officers of the Company. The compensation paid to key management (other than the Board) is 
paid by the Parent, with a portion of the costs being allocated to the Company through the management fee. 
Under the MOA all management services are provided by the Parent. Compensation to members of the Board 
is limited to an annual honorarium. 

The President and CEO, and each of the four other senior officers of the Company, earned variable 
compensation during the year. The Company’s Total Compensation Program does not include guaranteed 
bonuses or deferred compensation payments. Variable compensation is earned during the year and paid in 
cash in the following year. Directors do not participate in any variable compensation programs.  
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The components of total compensation received by key management personnel (including amounts paid by 
the Parent)(a) and balances due to/from key management personnel are as follows: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Short-term employee benefits 1,183,617  1,251,149 
Contributions to group savings for retirement program 79,136  88,746 
Variable compensation 287,131  263,933 
Deposit balances due to key management 462,591  928,899 

(a) The compensation reported is the total amount received by key management personnel, including both 
amounts allocated to the Parent and amounts allocated to the Company through the management 
agreement. 

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, director remuneration and other benefits. The mortgage and 
deposit transactions were made in the ordinary course of business and on substantially the same terms, 
including interest rates and security, as for comparable transactions with persons of a similar standing or, 
where applicable, with other employees. The transactions did not involve more than the normal risk of 
repayment or present other unfavourable features. 

Payments to Directors are as follows: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Remuneration 104,895  94,928 
Payments for reimbursement of expenses 37,780  15,966 

13 Commitments and contractual obligations 

a) Management fees 

The Company has contracted with Atlantic Central for the provision of services under an MOA. This 
agreement was effective January 1, 2013, has a term of five years and renews automatically for successive 
five-year terms unless notice to terminate is provided by either party at least six months prior to the 
termination of the agreement (or any renewal thereof). 

The fee for the services provided under the MOA is determined annually by mutual agreement between the 
Company and Central, based on the scope of services provided and market terms and conditions for such 
services. 

b) Approved loans and mortgages 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company had approved mortgages in the amount of $54,073,113 (2020 – 
$67,851,044) which have not been advanced. 
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14 Income taxes 

The components of tax expense are as follows: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Current tax expense 
Federal and provincial 2,289,504  1,882,303 
Capital and large corporate tax 1,761,466  1,114,935 

4,050,970  2,997,238 

Deferred tax expense 
Origination and reversal of deductible temporary differences  181,953  (161,975)

4,232,923  2,835,263 

The provision for income taxes differs from the result which would be obtained by applying the combined 
Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rates to income before income taxes. This difference 
results from the following: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Income before income taxes 10,294,259  6,812,478 
Statutory income tax rate 29.00%   29.50% 

Expected income tax 2,985,335  2,009,681 

Effect on income tax of 
Non-taxable dividends (3,797) (3,715)
Permanent tax differences 1,574  1,242 
Capital and large corporate tax 1,250,641  786,044 
Future tax reduction -  39,969 
Other (830) 2,042 

Total income tax expense 4,232,923  2,835,263 

The components of the future income tax asset are as follows: 

 Balance  Recognized in  Balance  Recognized in  Balance 

2019
Net income 

(loss)  OCI 2020
Net income

(loss) OCI 2021 
$  $  $ $ $ $ $ 

Deferred tax assets  
Property and 

equipment 23,898  (2,604) - 21,294 (984) - 20,310 
Allowance for impaired 

loans  595,473  164,579  - 760,052 (180,969) - 579,083 
Losses carried forward  155  -  - 155 - - 155 

 619,526  161,975  - 781,501 (181,953) - 599,548 
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15 Capital requirements 

The Company manages its capital under guidelines established by the OSFI, which require the Company to 
maintain capital ratios that are adequate in relation to its levels of business activity. OSFI has issued its 
guidelines based on standards issued by the Bank for International Settlements, Basel Committee of Banking 
Supervisors (BCBS). OSFI has adopted capital guidelines based on the standards known as Basel II, which 
became effective for League Savings in 2008. Pillar 1 of the Basel II framework defines minimum capital 
requirements, while Pillar 2 addresses standards for the management of capital requirements. 

Capital requirements are determined based on exposures to credit risk, operational risk and for entities with 
significant trading activity and market risk. The standards provide different methodologies for the calculation 
of risk exposures based on a company’s relative size and sophistication. The Company has implemented the 
Standardized Approach for credit risk and the Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk. The Company is 
not subject to the requirements for market risk. 

OSFI’s Basel III capital requirements include rules to implement the BCBS guidance on non-viability 
contingent capital (NVCC). The NVCC rules require that all capital instruments include loss absorption 
features.  

As of January 2019, under the BCBS rules, League Savings is required to meet new minimum requirements 
of: Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio of 4.5% plus a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, collectively 7%. 
Including the capital conservation buffer, the minimum Tier 1 ratio will be 8.5%, and the Total Capital ratio 
will be 10.5%. OSFI required Canadian deposit-taking institutions to fully implement the 2019 Basel III 
reforms in 2013, without the transitional phase-in provisions for capital deductions (referred to as “all-in”), 
and achieve a minimum 7% CET1 target, by the first quarter of 2013. 

Capital ratios are monitored regularly and reported to the Board quarterly. The Capital Management Plan, 
which forecasts capital requirements and includes contingency plans in the event of unanticipated changes, is 
reviewed by the Board annually.  
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Details of the Company’s regulatory capital as at December 31 were as follows: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Risk-weighted assets for 
Credit risk 328,715,000  314,422,000 
Operational risk 25,238,000  26,675,000 

Total 353,953,000  341,097,000 

Capital elements 
Common shares 36,716,000  25,873,000 
Contributed surplus 1,786,000  1,786,000 
Accumulated OCI 23,000  660,000 
Retained earnings 33,713,000  28,494,000 

CET1 72,238,000  56,813,000 

Total Tier 1 capital 72,238,000  56,813,000 

Stage 1 and Stage 2 allowance 1,997,000  2,621,000 

Total Tier 2 capital 1,997,000  2,621,000 

Total regulatory capital 74,235,000  59,434,000 

%  % 
Ratios 

CET1 20.4   16.7 
Total Tier 1 20.4   16.7 
Total capital 21.0   17.4 
Leverage Ratio 9.1   7.8 

OSFI targets 
CET1 7.0   7.0 
Total Tier 1 8.5   8.5 
Total capital 10.5   10.5 
Leverage Ratio 4.0   4.0 

The Company’s capital ratios have been in compliance with the regulatory requirements throughout the year. 

16 Credit facilities 

The Company has established an unsecured operating line of credit with Central, bearing interest at prime, 
up to an amount of $20,000,000. As at December 31, 2021, the amount outstanding on this facility was $nil 
(2020 – $5,663,241). 

On January 29, 2019, the Company entered into a line of credit agreement with Concentra Bank bearing 
interest at 3-month CDOR plus 1.00%, up to an amount of $25,000,000. The facility is secured by a charge 
over insured residential mortgages covering 110% of the loan facility. As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
there were no amounts outstanding on this facility. 
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17 Assets under administration 

Assets under administration include mortgages under administration, which are not the property of the 
Company and are not reflected in the balance sheet. As at December 31, the Company had assets under 
administration as follows: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Mortgages under administration 74,554,193  84,148,625 

18 Non-interest income (expense) 

Non-interest income (expense) includes the following: 

2021 
$  

2020 
$ 

Securitization expenses (607,002) (472,927)
Other lending service fees 228,520  303,307 
Lending service expenses (933,010) (985,388)
Investment service fees 28,028  23,075 
Investment service expenses (177,415) (209,923)
Other 16,602  35,323 

(1,444,277) (1,306,533)

The expenses detailed above include direct expenses only. Salary, staff-related costs and other indirect costs 
required to provide these services are reported in operating expenses.  

19 Initiatives and restructuring 

In 2020, Management made the decision to restructure its deposit administration function. The costs relating 
to this restructuring are reported in initiatives and restructuring expenses. 
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